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2004 10 29
108.93 2021 30 UFJ
2021

100,965,020 99.87

100,965,020 99.87

136,099 0.13

101,101,119 100.00

(11,013 )
2021
@) @)
CCMF Limited
514,000 | 69,470,314 | 135.16 | 100,965,020 | 196.43 | 99.87
2020 12 31
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2021
83.46
16.54
100.00
83.46
16.54
100.00
()
83.46
16.54
100.00
10 34
1 China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H 7.11
2 China Construction Bank Corp H 6.67
3 CITIC Securities Co Ltd H 6.44
4 Bank of China Ltd H 5.79
5 China Communications Construction Co Ltd H 4.95
6 China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H 4.91
7 Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H 4.79
8 China Lesso Group Holdings Ltd 4.45
9 China Merchants Port Holdings Co Ltd 3.76
10 Bank of Communications Co Ltd H 3.72
D
2)
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10 2021

2011 12 31 362,996 39,541 274.06 29,853
2012 12 31 156,604 17,059 316.54 34,481
2013 12 31 113,358 12,348 337.52 36,766
10 92,972 10,127 378.30 41,208

2014 12 31
1 84,906 9,249 369.38 40,237

2015 12 31
12 52,679 5,738 380.60 41,459

2016 12 31
13 78,410 8,541 477.41 52,004

2017 12 31
1 58,923 6,418 394.28 42,949

2018 12 31
1 89,642 9,765 430.39 46,882

2019 12 31
16 89,007 9,696 419.48 45,694

2020 12 31
2020 72,727 7,922 354.80 38,648
76,741 8,359 374.38 40,781
86,695 9,444 408.59 44,508
86,320 9,403 406.82 44,315
81,267 8,852 383.01 41,721
10 80,285 8,745 378.38 41,217
11 88,722 9,664 418.14 45,548
12 89,007 9,696 419.48 45,694
2021 96,816 10,546 456.29 49,704
100,815 10,982 478.52 52,125
101,224 11,026 480.46 52,337
101,101 11,013 479.88 52,273
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10 )

2011 212,848 141,500 1,324,491

2011 12 31 210,700 141,500 1,304,500

2012 2,000 831,750 494,741

2012 12 31 1,500 831,750 474,250

2013 25,120 184,000 335,861

2013 12 31 18,100 184,000 308,350
10

2014 2,600 92,700 245,761

2014 12 31 2,600 92,200 218,750
11

2015 15,200 31,100 229,861

2015 12 31 15,200 30,800 203,150
12

2016 2,800 94,250 138,411

2016 12 31 2,800 94,250 111,700
13

2017 36,929 11,100 164,240

2017 12 31 0 10,100 101,600
14

2018 1,207 16,000 149,447

2018 12 31 0 16,000 85,600
15

2019 74,590 15,755 208,282

2019 12 31 0 3,500 82,100
16

2020 7,200 3,300 212,182

2020 12 31 7,200 3,300 86,000

32/206



100

3.0

Transfer Agency Department
2690

Alternative Products

33/206

100

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

852 3409-



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2.5

SWIFT MT103
SWIFT BTFEHKHH

34/206



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

plc

CINA
CINA
)
100
(G
« )

35/206



10

36/206

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

3.0

2/3

14



30

100

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Transfer Agency Department Alternative Products
100

30

100

37/206



14

10

38/206

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad



(

)

(

)

(

(

)

)

39/206

(

)

(

)

EDINETOOOO

00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)

(

(

)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

)



100

60

1,000,000

50

12 31

40/206

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad



75

41/206

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

60



21

15

42/206

13

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

50



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

13

43/206



CCMF

=108.93

2021

30

44/206

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

131

23 103

UFJ



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 12 31
2020 2019
CCMF
2020 69,963,634
2019 69,323,674 7 88,515,338 9,641,976 89,349,619 9,732,854
15 2
2 579,952 63,174 16,444 1,791
3,122,460 340,130
89,095,290 9,705,150 92,488,538 10,074,776
15,150 1,650 31,550 3,437
4 73,015 7,954 78,523 8,554
5 2,736,659 298,104
88,165 9,604 2,846,732 310,095
89,007,125 9,695,546 89,641,806 9,764,682
5 212,182 208,282
10 419.48 45,694 430.39 46,882
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2020 12 31
2020 2019
3,404,816 370,887 3,406,438 371,063
(239,735) (26,114) (256,327) (27,922)
46 5 12,177 1,326
(213,963) (23,307) (306,516) (33,389)
2,951,164 321,470 2,855,772 311,079
(813,353) (88,599) (812,310) (88,485)
(25) (©))
(51,387) (5,598) (53,325) (5,809)
(12,000) (1,307) (12,000) (1,307)
(13,362) (1,456) (9,880) (1,076)
290 32 2,609 284
(889,837) (96,930) (884,906) (96,393)
2,061,327 224,540 1,970,866 214,686
6,941,230 756,108 (977,885) (106,521)
(11,043,210) (1,202,937) 4,492,426 489,360
2,077 226 (21,592) (2.352)
(4,099,903) (446,602) 3,492,949 380,487
57 6 ') (6)
57 6 ) (6)

46/206



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
ooooodooodioodnoodn

(4,099, 846)
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2020 12 31
2020 2019

2,951,164 321,470 2,855,772 311,079
(889,837) (96,930) (884,906) (96,393)

57 6 ) (6)

(4,099,903) (446,602) 3,492,949 380,487
(2,038,519) (222,056) 5,463,758 595,167

5 2,695,392 293,609 31,964,731 3,481,918
5 (1,291,554) (140, 689) (6,710,017) (730,922)
1,403,838 152,920 25,254,714 2,750,996
(634,681) (69,136) 30,718,472 3,346,163
89,641,806 9,764,682 58,923,334 6,418,519
89,007,125 9,695,546 89,641,806 9,764,682
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2020 12 31
2020 2019
(2,038,519) (222,056) 5,463,758 595,167
834,281 90,878 (30,743,166) (3,348,853)
3,122,460 340,130 (3,122,460) (340, 130)
15 2 112 12
(16,400) (1,786) 450 49
(5,508) (600) 33,479 3,647
1,896,329 206,567 (28,367,827) (3,090,107)
5 2,695,392 293,609 32,214,731 3,509,151
5 (4,028,213) (438,793) (3,973,358) (432,818)
(1,332,821) (145,184) 28,241,373 3,076,333
563,508 61,383 (126,454) (13,775)
16,444 1,791 142,898 15,566
579,952 63,174 16,444 1,791
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2020 2019 12 31
1.
2004 10 5
2004 10 29
100 2006 1 25
2009 6 1
2011 12 15
CCMF
2017 10 6
HSBC
2020 12 31
100% 2019

100%

2.
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2018 8 FASB
ASU 2018-13 820
ASU 2018-13

ASU
ASU
2019 12 16
2020 12 31

2016 6 FASB ASU2016-13 326

ASU2016-13 2020 12 16
ASU

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

FASB ASC 946

FASB ASC 825
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US GAAP
3.
4
4.
2020 12 31 813,353 2019 812,310
2020 12 31 73,015 2019 78,523
100
10 2020 12 31 2019
12 31 2020 12 31 2019 12
31
12,000
2020 12 31 12,000 2019

12,000 2020 12 31 1,000 2019 1,000
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14
100
10
2020 2019
208,282 149,447
7,200 74,590
(3,300) (15,755)
3,900 58,835
212,182 208,282
2020 2,695,392 2019 31,964,731 7,200 2019
74,590 1,291,554 2019 6,710,017 3,300
2019 15,755
2020 12 31 2019
2019 2,736,659
2020 2019
250,000
2,695,392 31,964,731

2,695,392 32,214,731
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2020 2019
2,736,659
1,291,554 6,710,017
(2,736,659)
4,028,213 3,973,358
6.
2004 10 5 50
ASC 740
2004 2020
2020 12 31
2020 12 31
2019
7.
2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
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11.
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019
430.39 394.28
« )
(4.25) (4.45)
« ) (6.66) 40.56
«C ) (10.91) 36.11
419.48 430.39
(2.53%) 9.16%
0.00% 0.00%
(2.53%) 9.16%
1.09% 1.10%
0.00% 0.00%
1.09% 1.10%
(1.09%) (1.10%)
12.
2020 12 31 2021 3 26
2021 1 1
684,420 1,500 COVID-19
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2020 2019 12 31

2021 3 26
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2020 12 31
2020 2019
2020 : 95,160,982
2019 : 97,204,532 ) 7 76,432,495 8,325,792 89,519,255 9,751,332
2 12,089,984 1,316,962 974,640 106,168
2,009,032 218,844
18,343 1,998 18,334 1,997
88,540,822 9,644,752 92,521,261 10,078,341
25,484 2,776 49,192 5,358
3,122,460 340,130
25,484 2,776 3,171,652 345,488
88,515,338 9,641,976 89,349,609 9,732,853
5 517,650 515,050
11 170.99 18,626 173.48 18,897
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2020 2019
3,404,816 370,887 3,406,438 371,063
(239,735) (26,114) (256,327) (27,922)
46 5 12,177 1,326
3,165,127 344,777 3,162,288 344,468
121,520 13,237 181,978 19,823
23,392 2,548 23,098 2,516
30,150 3,284 32,960 3,590
2,160 235 3,040 331
8 1 25 3
20,500 2,233 38,333 4,176
16,233 1,768 27,082 2,950
213,963 23,307 306,516 33,389
2,951,164 321,470 2,855,772 311,079
6,941,230 756,108 (977,885) (106,521)
(11,043,210) (1,202,937) 4,492,426 489,360
2,077 226 (21,592) (2,352)
(4,099,903) (446,602) 3,492,949 380,487
(1,148,739) (125,132) 6,348,721 691,566
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2020 12 31
2020 2019
2,951,164 321,470 2,855,772 311,079
6,941,230 756,108 (977,885) (106,521)
(11,043,210)  (1,202,937) 4,492,426 489,360
2,077 226 (21,592) (2,352)
(1,148,739) (125,132) 6,348,721 691,566
5 2,607,864 284,075 31,540,960 3,435,757
5 (2,293,406) (249,821)  (7,146,515) (778,470)
314,458 34,254 24,394,445 2,657,287
(834,281) (90,878) 30,743,166 3,348,853
89,349,619 9,732,854 58,606,453 6,384,001
88,515,338 9,641,976 89,349,619 9,732,854
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2020 12 31
2020 2019
(1,148,739) (125,132) 6,348,721 691,566
(10,628,707) (1,157,785) (33,606,724) (3,660,780)
19,613,487 2,136,497 5,460,832 594,848
(6,941, 230) (756,108) 977,885 106,521
)
11,043,210 1,202,937 (4,492,426) (489,360)
) 2,009,032 218,844 (2,009,032) (218,844)
74 8
1 0 20,583 2,242
(23,708) (2,583) 2,975 324
13,923,346 1,516,670 (27,297,112) (2,973,474)
5 2,607,864 284,075 31,540,960 3,435,757
5 (5,415,866) (589, 950) (4,024,055) (438,340)
(2,808,002) (305,876) 27,516,905 2,997,416
11,115,344 1,210,794 219,793 23,942
974,640 106,168 754,847 82,225
12,089,984 1,316,962 974,640 106,168
3,404,816 370,887 3,406,438 371,063
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2020 12 31
1.
2011 11 24
2011 12 15
2.
US GAAP
2018 8 FASB
ASU 2018-13 820
ASU 2018-13
ASU ASU
2019 12

16 2020 12 31
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2016 6 FASB ASU2016-13

2020 12 16
ASU

12 31 2019 12 31

FASB

FASB ASC 825
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326

ASU2016-13

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020

ASC 946
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US GAAP

20,000
2020 12 31 20,500
2019 38,333
HSBC 2011 12
15
2019 10 31
50 0.250
50 0.225
100 0.200
2019 11 1
100 0.150
150 0.125

250 0.100
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2,500
2019 11 1 6,500
2020 12 31 121,520 2019 181,978
2020 12 31 10,884 2019 11,782
2020 12 31 2,160 2019 3,040
2020 12 31 100 2019 160
2020 12 31 2019 12 31 50,000 1.00

100 0.001 49,900,000
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2011 12 14
2020 2019
100 100
515,050 373,000
17,200 184,000
(14,600) (41,950)
2,600 142,050
517,650 515,050
2020 2,607,864 2019 31,540,960 17,200 2019
184,000 2,293,406 2019 7,146,515
14,600 2019 41,950
2020 12 31
2019 3,122,460
2020 2019
2,607,864 31,540,960
2,607,864 31,540,960
2020 2019
3,122,460
2,293,406 7,146,515
(3.122,460)
5,415,866 4,024,055
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2020 12 31 239,735 2019 256,327

2011 12 15 50

ASC 740

2011 2020

2020 12 31

2020 12
31 2019

ASC 820
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2020

2020

2020

12 31

12 31
2019

12 31
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76,432,495

76,432,495 — —

76,432,495

76,432,495 — —

2019 12
31

89,519,255

89,519,255 — —

89,519,255

89,519,255 — —

2013

2019 12 31

2019 12 31

2020 12 31
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
11.
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019
173.48 157.12
C )
5.74 5.77
« ) (8.23) 10.59
(2.49) 16.36
170.99 173.48
C ) (1.43%) 10.41%
0.56% 0.70%
0.56% 0.70%
3.64% 3.55%

12.
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2020 12 31 2021 3 26
2021
11 679,813 3,650
COVID-19
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2020 12 31

6,182,551 6.99
75,834 0.09
3,181,303 3.59
2,923,550 3.30
4,216,360 4.76
152,199 0.17
20,112,789 22.72
3,100,413 3.50
1,351,644 1.53
5,376,435 6.07
5,321,130 6.01
354,781 0.40
330,689 0.37
318,457 0.36
883,036 1.00
1,847,382 2.09
471,766 0.53
1,376,123 1.56
1,644,679 1.86
2,682,492 3.03
8,042,859 9.09
1,683,383 1.90
684,072 0.77
1,163,421 1.32
83,097 0.09
2,872,050 3.25
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95,160,982 76,432,495 86.35

95,160,982 76,432,495 86.35
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China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 6,587,868 10,558,000 6,182,551 6.99
Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 7,835,493 14,700,000 5,024,507 5.68
China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 6,842,921 8,508,393 6,507,774 7.35
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrs 6,833,458 9,651,280 5,464,868 6.17
CITIC Securities Co Ltd H Shrs 5,383,841 2,444,000 5,321,130 6.01

Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7,654,767 8,538,151 5,175,972 5.85
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2019 12 31

5,408,350 6.05
362,378 0.41
4,986,431 5.58
3,803,161 4.26
4,803,022 5.38
118,134 0.13
29,127,061 32.60
1,935,732 2.17
901,277 1.01
2,680,620 3.00
5,667,701 6.34
8,102,470 9.07
318,419 0.36
321,264 0.36
820,635 0.92
2,370,743 2.65
128,504 0.14
1,465,193 1.64
2,450,464 2.74
1,482,370 1.66
9,322,486 10.43
822,145 0.92
574,793 0.64
1,415,685 1.58
130,217 0.15

97,204,532 89,519,255 100.19
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97,204,532 89,519,255 100.19
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China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 5,201,830 7,858,000 5,408,350 6.05
Weichai Power Co Ltd H Shrs 2,630,538 2,409,000 4,986,431 5.58
China Lesso Group Holdings Ltd Shrs 2,535,416 3,574,000 4,566,313 5.11
Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 9,168,060 17,200,000 7,420,885 8.31
China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 8,169,942 10,158,393 8,804,745 9.85
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrs 8,037,120 11,351,280 8,628,882 9.66
CITIC Securities Co Ltd H Shrs 5,383,841 2,444,000 5,667,701 6.34
Hong Kong Exchanges & Clearing Ltd (HKSE) 6,046,053 246,292 8,102,470 9.07

Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7,721,433 7,829,556 6,605,269 7.39
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABITITIES

As at December 31, 2020

Notes 2020 2019
Uss Uss
Assets
Investments m CCMF Limited (“Master Fund™), at fair valoe
{Cost 2020: US$69,963,634; 2019: US$69.323,674) 7 88,515,338 80 349 619
Interest recervable - 13
Cash and cash equivalents 2 579,952 16,444
Amounts due from Master Fund - 3,122 460
Total assets 89095290 02 488 538
Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other habilities 15,130 31,530
Management fee payable 4 73,015 78,523
Redemptions payable 5 - 2,736,639
Total liahilities 88.165 2.846.732
Net assets 89.007.125 80 641 806
Number of umts cutstanding 5 212,182 208282
et asset value per unit 10 41948 43039

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these financial statements.

3

81/206



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31, 2020

Note 2020 2019
uss Uss
Net investment income allocated from the Master Fund
Dividend income 3 404 816 3406438
Withholding tax expense ( 239.735) ( 236,327)
Other mcome 46 12177
Other expenses ( 213.963) ( 306,316)
2051 164 2855772
Trust's operating expenses
Management fea 4 ( 813.353) ( 812.310)
Sub-custodian fee ( 23) -
Legal and professional fees ( 51387 ( 33.323)
Repistrar’s and administration fees 4 ( 12,000) ( 12,0000
Other expenses ( 13,362) ( 9_880)
Other income 290 2,600
C somD) (884909
Net investment income 2,061,327 1,970,866

Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains on investments
and exchange differences allocated from the Master Fund

Net realised gains/(losses) on sale of investments 6,941,230 (977883
Net change in unrealised (losses)/gains on investments
during the year ( 110432100 4492 426
Exchange gainz/(losses) 2077 ( 21,392)
( 4.000903) 3,492 949
Trust’s realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on investments
and exchange differences
Exchange gams/{losses) 57 ({ a7}
37 ( 3T
Net realised and unrealised (losses)/'gains from
investments and foreign currency transactions ( 4.000846) 3,492 202
Net (decrease)/increase In net assets resnlting from operations (2038519 5,463,738

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these finanecial statements.
4
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended December 31, 2020

Note

Changes in net assets resulting from operations

Net investment income allocated from the Master Fund

Trust’s operating expenses

Trust's net exchange gains/i{losses)

Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains on investments
and exchange differences allocated from the Master Fund

Net (decrease)/increase in net assets resulting
from operations

Change in net assets resnlting from capital
share transactions

Unit subscriptions

Unit redemptions

Net increase in net assets resulting
from capital transactions

L b

Met (decrease)/mcrease In net assets
et assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

(

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 2019
uUss Uss
1.951.164 2855772
889.837) ( 884.906)
57 ( 5T)
4,099,903) 3,492,949
1,038,519) 5.463.758
2,695,392 31,964,731
1201554)  ( 6710017
1.403.838 25254.714
634,681) 30,718.472
89,641,806 58,923,334
89 641,806

89.007.125

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2020

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net (decrease)/mcrease in net assets resulting from operations
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Net decrease/(increase) in mvestment in the Master Fund
Decrease/{increase) m redemptions receivable
Decrease in interest receivable
(Decrease)/increase m accrued expenses and other hiabilities
{Decrease)/increase in management fee payable

Net cash flows generated from/{used in) operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of units

Payment for redemption of units

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities

L b

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

o
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2020 2019
uUss Uss
2,038,519) 5.463.758
834,281 (30,743,166)
3,122,460 (3.122.460)

13 112

16.400) 450
5.508) 33479
1,896320 (28.367.827)
2,695,392 32214731

4.028.213) ( 3.9733358)

1.332.821) 28241373

363,508  126454)

16,444 142 203

579,952 16,444

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these finanecial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

1. Organisation

Cape China Fund (the “Trust™) was registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Act and
established under the laws of the Cayman Islands and constituted by a Trust Deed (the “Trust Dead™)
dated October 5, 2004 made between the Bark of Bermmda (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee™) as
Trustee and Cape Asset Management Limited as Manager. The Trust only issues one class of units.

The Trust commenced operations on October 29, 2004. Its investment objective is to maximise capital
gaims principally by identifying and acquinng egquity securities of companies that have growth
potential and which operate in, camy on a business in or derive revenue from or are located m the
Greater China Eegion incloding Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macaun of People’s Eepublic of
China and Tarwan.

Unless ternunated earlier, the Trust will be termmated one hundred years after the date of the Trost
Deed The Trust changed its name from Seven China Equity Fund to Cape China Fund on January 23,
2006. Seven Asset Management (Asia) Limited retired as the Manager, and on June 1, 2009 Cape
Asset Management [ imited was appointed as the Manager.

The Trust was established as a stand-alone fund and converted into a “feeder” fimd in a “master feeder”
fund structure om December 15, 2011. The master fund is CCMF Limited (the “Master Fund™), a

Cayman [slands exempted company. The Trust mvests all or substantially all of its assets in the Master

Fund which shares the same investment objective and strategy as the Trust. The restructuring took

effect by transferrmg all of the Trust’s underlying investments and cash to the Master Fund m

exchange for the participating shares of the Master Fund.

Effective from October 6, 2017, Bank of Bermuda (Cayman) Limited (the “Retiring Tmstee™) was
refired and HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited was appointed as the trustea (the “Trustee™) of the Trust
on the same date.

The Master Fund is managed by Cape Asset Management Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Eong with linvited liabality. The Master Fund will accept subscriptions from the Trust as well as other
parallel feeder funds or vehicles establizhed by the Manager from time to time. At 31 December 2020,
the Trust’s investment m the Master Fund represents 100% (2019: 100%) of the net assets of the
Master Fund.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Trust’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting primciples
generally accepted in the United States of America (“US. GAAP™) and are stated in United States
Dollars (“US$™), which 1z also the functional currency. Certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation. The following is a summary of the
sigmificant accounting and reporting policies nsed in prepanng the financial statements:
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Accounting and Regulatory Development

In Angust 2018, the FASB issued the Accounting Standards Update ("ASU™) 2018-13, Fair Value
Measorements (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair
Value Measurement, to streamline disclosure requirements while contming to provide useful
mformation for financial statement users. For non-public entities, AST 2018-13 eliminates disclosures
for policy of timing of transfers, valnation process for Level 3 fair value measurements and the
changes in unrealized gains and losses meluded in for Level 3 mvestments held at the end of the
reporting period. The AST also amends dizclosure requiremnents for the Level 3 roll forward. All other
changes mplemented by the ASU are applicable to public companies only. The gmdance is effective
for financial statements with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The Trust has adopted
this change in the Trust’s financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December
51, 2020 and determined that there is no material impact to the financial statements as there are no
Lewvel 3 investments held at the end of the reporting period.

The Trust has not applied the following recent accounting pronouncements that has been issued but is
not yet effective up to the date of issunance of the Trust’s financial statements. Among the remaining
recent accounting pronouncements, the following is expected to be relevant to the Trust’s financial
statements upon becoming effective.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 Fmancial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) that
require a financial asset {or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be
presented at the net amount expected to be collacted. The allowanee for cradit losses is a valnation
account that is deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial assets to present the net carrying
value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. The income statement reflects the
measurement of credit losses for newly recogmzed financial assets, as well as the expected increases
or decreases of expected credit losses that have taken place during the penod. ASU 2016-13 is
effective for anmual reporting periods, and inferim periods within those years beginning after
December 13, 2020. Early adeption is permitted. This new AST is not expected to have an impact on
the Trust's financial position and financial performance.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents inchide amounts doe from banks on demand Cash and cash equivalents
are stated at cost, which approximates their market value. Balances which are denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into US$ at the applicable rates of exchange at the end of the reporting period.
As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, all cash and cash equivalents are held with
custodian, Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. No restricted cash was held by
Fund as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment Company

The Tmust meets the definifion of an investment company within Accounting Standard Codification
(“ASC™) Topic M6, “Financial Services — Imvestment Companies ", issued by FASB, and applies the
accounting and reporting pmdance in this Topic to its financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Trust's assets and liabalities which qualify as financial instruments under FASB
ASC 823, “Financial Instruments”, approximates the carrying amounts presented i the financial
statements.

Investment Valuation

The Trust's investment in the Master Fund 13 valued at fair valoe, which is the Trust’s proportionate
mterest in the net assets of the respective share class in the Master Fund. The performance of the Trust
15 directly affected by the performance of the Master Fund. The Trust records any change in value in
the statement of operations by recording its proportionate share of the Master Fund s income, expenses,
realised and unrealised gainflosses. In addition, the Trust acerues its own income and expenses. The
Trost invests in the Master Fund and the Trust’s imvestment policy is same as the investment policy
of the Master Fund_ Since the operating activities of the Trust are conducted through its investment in
the Master Fund, the financial statements of the Master Fund are an integral part of these financial
statements and should be read m conjunction with those of the Trust. The Master Fund’s financial
statements are therefore attached.

Foreign Currency Translation

Aszets and liabilities denominated i foreign cumencies are translated at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the date of the statement of assets and liabilities. Transactions m foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange prevailmg at the time of the transaction. Exchange gains or losses,
both realised and unreahsed, are included in the statement of operations.

The Trust does not isclate that portion of gains and losses on investments which is due to changes in
foreign exchange rates from that which 13 due to changes in market prices of the mvestments. Such
fluctnations are inchuded with the net realised and unrealised gains and losses from investments.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformaty with US. GAAP may require management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including
the fair value of mvestments as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
mecome and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3 Related Party Transactions

The Trust iz managed by the Manager, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with linuited liability.
The Manager is responsible, subject to the policies, controls and approval of the Trustee, for the
mvestment of the Trust’s assets in accordance with the investment objective set out in the Explanatory
Memorandum_ Details of the fees, to which the Manager is entitled, are provided in Note 4 to these
financial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

4. Fees

Management fee

The Manager iz entitled to receive a management fee at an anmual rate of 1% on the net asset value of
the Trust at each month end, payable in amears. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the
management fee was US$813.353 (2019: US$812,310). As at December 31, 2020, a management fee
of US$73,015 (2019: US$78,323) was payable to the Manager.

Performance fee

The Manager 1s also enfitled to recerve an ammal performance fee of 10% of any increase m net asset
value above an imtial 4% increase in each financial year on a comulative basis in the net asset value
of umits as at the last dealing day of the preceding financial year or a base net asset value of US$§100
per unit for the first financial year. For the year ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
there was no performance fee expense. As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there was
no performance fee payable to the Manager.

Registrar’s and administration fees
The Trustee is entitled to receive a fixed fee of US$12,000 per annum as Trustee’s fee, Registrar's
fees and adnuinistration fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Registrar's and administration fee was US$12.000 (2019:
US$12,000). Az at December 31, 2020, Registrar's and admimstration fees of US$1,000 (2019:
US$1,000) was payable to the Trustee.

5. Capital Tranzactions

The Trust has an unlimited umt capital amount with no par value. All outstanding units share the same
characteristics.

Units in the Trust are nommally 1ssued on or with effect from any dealing day (monthly) in respect of
applications received before the subscription dealmg deadline in relation to the relevant dealing day.
The issue price is the amount equal to the Net Asset Value per unit as at the relevant valuation point
plus an amount, if any, as the Manager may determine to add in respect of fiscal and purchase
charges and such amount will be rounded up to the nearest cent. The benefit of such rounding is
retained as part of the Trust’s assets.

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager is obliged to accept requests for the redemption of units by
arranging for their cancellation on any dealing day (monthly) in respect of requests received before
the redemption dealing deadline which is at least 14 days prior to the relevant dealing day. Redemption
price of a Unit will be the amount equal to the WNet Asset Value per umit of the Trust calculated on that
dealing day less any amount of performance fee payable to the Manager and any applicable expense
as the Manager may determine to deduct. No partial redemption which would result in the unitholder
retaining fewer than 100 units or such lesser mumber as the Manager may in its discretion agree. In
addition, the Manager may limit the number of umits to be redeemed on any redemption date to 10%
of total mmber of wmits in issue.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

5. Capital Transactions (continued)

2020 2019

Units cutstanding at beginning of year 208,282 149 447
Unats 1zsued 7200 74,590
Units redesmed (33000 ( 15735)
Net change 3,900 58,835
Units cutstanding at end of year 212,182 208,282

During 2020, 7,200 units (2019: 74,590 units) were issued for US$2,605,302 (2019: US$31,964.731)
and 3,300 units (2019: 15,753 units) were redeemed for US$1.201.554 (2019: US$6.710.017).

As at December 31, 2020, there was no subscription was receivable from imvestors (2019: Nil) and no
redemptions payable to investors (2019- US$2,736,659). Units are izsued and redeemed in accordance

with the Trust Deed.

2020 2019

Uss Uss
Subscriptions receivable, beginning of the year - 250,000
Subscriptions dunng the year 2,695 392 31,964 731
Proceeds from issuance of units 2,695,392 32214731
Redemptions payable, begmning of the year 2,736,659 -
Redemptions duning the year 1,201,554 6,710,017
Fedemptions payable, end of the vear - ( 2,736,659)

Payment for redemption of units 4 028213 3973338

11
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

6. Taxation

Under the cumrent laws of the Cayman Islands. there 15 no income, withholding, capital gams,
corporation, inheritance, o estate taxes of any kand.

The Trust has recerved an undertaking from the Governor-m-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that for
the period of fifty years from October 5, 2004 (date of establishment), no law which 15 hereafter
enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Trust.

The Trust recognizes and measures its unrecogmzed tax positions m accordance with ASC 740,
Income Taves. These principles prescribe the minmmmm recognition threshold a tax position must meet
m comnection with accounting for uncertainties in income tax positions taken or expected. The
applications of these principles did not impact the Trust’s financial statements.

The Trust has analyzed the positions for all open tax years (2004 to 2020), and the positions to be
taken for the tax year ended December 31, 2020 m its major jurisdictions, and have determined
whether or not there are uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recogmition. Based on
1ts analysis, the Directors has determined that this policy did not have a matenial impact on the Trust’s
financial statements. However, the Directors” conclusions regarding this policy may be subject to
review and adyustment at a later date based on factors including, but not limited to, on-going analyses
of and changes to tax laws, regulations and mterpretations thereof. The Trust recogmzes interest
accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties m other expenses, if
assessed. No interest expense or penalties have been assessed for the year ended December 31, 2020
{2019: Nal).

T Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the financial assets of the Trust consist of 1ts
investment in the Master Fund and as such the Manager determined that fair value of the financial
assets mvolved inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset either directly (as
priced) or indirectly (denved from prices) 1e. Level 2.

For the year ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there were no transfers between Level
lor Level 2 and Level 3.

8 Distributions
The Tustee may make distributions, at the discretion of the Manager, in respect of each financial year
to each unitholder on the distnbution date fallmg in the subsequent financial year of up to all of the
appreciation in the net asset value of the umts held by the umtholders m the current financial year. No
distributions were made for the current or prior year.

9, Indemnifications

The Trust enters into confracts that contain a varety of indemmifications. The Trust’s maxmum
exposure under these arrangements is unknown. However, the Trust has not had prior claims or losses
pursuant to these contracts and expects the nsk of loss to be remote.
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

10.

11.

Financial Instruments and Associated Risks

The Trust's investment in Master Fund 1s exposed to various types of sk both on and off the statement
of financial condition which are azsociated with the financial mstruments and markets in which the
Master Fund mwvests. Details of those nisks are contained in the Master Fund’s financial statements as
attached.

Financial Highlights

The following repressents the per umnit information, ratio to average net assets and other information
for the year ended December 31, 2020 and Diecember 31, 2019:

2020 2019
Uss Us$
Per unit operating performance
Met asset value, beginning of year 43039 304722
{Loss)income from investment operations:
Net investment expenses ( 423 { 445
Net (loss)/gain on mvestments ( 6.66) 40.36
Total (loss)/income from investment operations { 10.91) 36.11
Met asset value, end of year 41048 43039
Total investment retumn prior to performance fee ( 2.53%) 9.16%
Performance fee 0.00%% 0.00%
Total investment refumn after performance fee [ 2.33%%) 9.16%
Fatio to average net assets:
Expenses other than performance fee 1.09% 1.10%
Performance fees 0.00% 0.00%
Total expenses 1.0%% 1.10%
Net investment expenses [ 1.09%%) ( 1.10%)

An individual investor’s per unit operating performance, total return and ratios to average net assets
may vary from these amounts and ratios based on the timing of capital fransactions.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

12. Subsequent Events

The financial statements have been prepared based upon conditions existing at December 31, 2020
and considering those events cccurmng subsequent to that date, through to March 26, 2021, that
provide evidence of condifions that existed at the end of the reporting pericd. Subsequent to
December 31, 2020, 1,500 shares were redeemed for total capital redemptions of US$684.420. There
were no other significant events affecting the Fund dunng this peried, inchiding the impacts of
COVID-19.
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Audited Financial Statements

CCMF LIMITED

(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with lﬁr:;ﬁedy liability)

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2010
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Building a better PO, Box 510
working world Grand Cayman K¥1-1106

CAYMAN ISLANDS

Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
CCMF Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of CCMF Limited (the “Fund™), which
comprise the statement of assets and liabilities, including the condensed schedule of investments,
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related statements of operations, changes in net assets
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
i conformity with TS, generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement. whether due to frand or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Onr responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement

An avdit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to frand or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedusres that are appropriate in the citcumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity”s internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An awdit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management. as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

A mermbar Arm of Ermi: 8 Yourg Clokal Limiesd
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We believe that the andit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our andit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinicn, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of CCMF Limited at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with

U.5. generally accepted accounting principles.
éth ¥ Miﬁ

March 26, 2021

Amumbar Arm of Ermat: 8§ Yourg Gobal Limitsd
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2020

Assets
Investments m secunties, at fair valoe
{Cost 2020: US$05,160,982; 2019: US$97.204.332)

Cash and cash equivalents
Amounts due from broker
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other habilities
Fedemptions payable

Total liabilities

Net assets
Mumber of participating shares outstanding

Net asset value per participating shara

The accompanying notes are an intepral part of these financial statements.
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2020
Uss

76,432 4903
12089984

18,343
88540822

25484
— >am
88,313,338
517,630

17099
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2019
Uss

20519235
974,640
2,009,032
18344

02521271

49192
3,122 460
3,171,652

29,349 619
315,050

173.4%



CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31, 2020
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Notes 2020
Uss
Investment income and expenses
Income:
Dividend income 3404816
Withholding tax expense 6 (239733
Other income 46
Total investment income 3,165,127
Expenses:
Registrar's and administration fees 4 121,520
Sub-custodian fee 23392
Legal and professional fees 30,130
Transaction fee 4 2,160
Bank charges 2
Directors' fee 4 20,500
Other expenses 16,233
Total expenses 213,963
MNet investment income 2,931,164
Realized and change in unrealised (losses)/gains on
investments and foreign currency transactions
et realised gains/(losses) on sale of investments 6,941,230
et change in unrealised (losses)/gains on investments
dunng the year ( 11,043210)
Exchange gaina/(losses) 2077
Net realised and change in unrealized (losses)/gains from
investments and foreign carrency transactions ( 4.009903)
Net (decrease)/increase in net assets resulting from operations ( 1,148.739)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
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2019
Uss

3,406,438

¢ 236327)
12177
3,162 288

181,978
23,008
32,960

3,040
25
38,333
27,082

306,516

2835772

({ 977883)

4,492 426
( 21.592)

3,492 949

6,348,721



CCMF LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended December 31, 2020

Change in net assets resulting from operations

Met mvestment mcome

Net realized gains/(losses) on sale of investments

Wet change in unrealised (losses)/gains on investments

duning the year
Exchange gains/(losses)

Net change in net assets resulting from operations

Note

Change in net assets resnlting from capital share transactions

Participating share subscriptions

Participating share redemptions

Net change in net assets resulting from capital share

transactions

Net change in net assets

Wet assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2020 2019
Uss USs$
2,051,164 2855772
6941230  (  977.889)
11,043,210) 4,492 426
2077 (2159
1,148,739) 6,348 721
2,607.864 31,540,960
2293406)  ( 7.146515)
314,458 24,394,445
834,281) 30,743,166
89,349,619 58,606,453
88,515,338 80,349,619
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31, 2020
Note 2020 2019
Uss Us3
Cash flows from operating activities
Net change in net assets resulting from operations ({ 1,148739) 6,348.721

Adjustments to reconcile net change in net assets
resulting from operations to net cash generated

from operating activities:
Purchases of investments ( 10,628,707 { 33.606,724)
Proceeds from sales of investments 19.613 487 5,460,832
Wet realised (gains)/losses on sale of investments ( 6.941,230) oT7 8RS
Net change in unrealised losses/(gams) on
investments during the year 11,043,210 ( 4.492426)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) mn amounts due from broker 2,009,032 {  2,000,032)
Decrease in interest receivable - 74
Decrease in other assets 1 20,383
{Decrease)/increase mn accrued expenses
and other hiabilities [ 23,708) 2975
Net cash generated from/(used m) operating activities 13,923 346 { 27.297112)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of participating shares 5 2,607 864 31,540,960
Payment for redemption of participating shares 5 ( 5.415866) ( 4024055
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities (2808002 27,516,905
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,113,344 219,793
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 974,640 734 847
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12,089,934 974,640
Supplemental disclosure of eash information:

Cash received dunng the year from dividend 3,404 816 3406438

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
10
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2020

| Organisation

CCMF Linmted (the "Fund™) is an exempted company incorperated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on November 24, 2011. The Fund commenced operations on December 15, 2011.
The Fund has no employees.

Cape China Fund, a Cayman Islands Unit Trust ("Feeder Fund”), invests all or substantially all of its
assets through the participating shares issued by the Fund. Cape Asset Management Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with himited liabality (the "Manager™), acts as investment
manager of the Fund and the Feeder Fund.

The Fund's investment objective is to maxinise capital gains by mvesting in the greater China region.
The Manager will seck to achieve the investment objective of the Fund prineipally by identifying and
acguiring equity securties of companies that the Manager considers have growth potential and which
operate in, cary on a business i or derive revenue from or are located in the greater China region or
with business mterests in the greater China rezion and will identify such other mvestments as may
otherwise mean the objective of the Fund can be attained.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Fund's financial statemnents have been prepared in accordance with accounting primciples
generally accepted in the United States of Amenica (U5, GAAP") and are stated in Umited States
Dollars (“US$"), which iz also the fimetional curency. The following is a summary of the significant
accounting and reporting pelicies used in preparing the financial statements:

Accounting and Regulatory Development

In August 2018, the FASB issued the Accounting Standards Update ("ASTU™) 2018-13, Fair Value
Measurements (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair
Value Measurement, to streamline disclosure reguirements while continming to prowvide useful
information for financial statement users. For non-public entiies, ASU 2012-13 eliminates
disclosures for policy of timmng of transfers, valuation process for Level 3 fair value measurements
and the changes m unrealized gams and losses inchnded in for Level 3 investments held at the end of
the reperting penod. The ASU also amends disclosure requirements for the Level 3 roll forward. All
other changes implemented by the AST are applicable to public companies only. The gmdance i3
effective for financial statements with fiscal years begmning after December 13, 2019. The Fund has
adopted this change in the Fund's financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended
December 31, 2020 and determined that there is no material impact to the fimancial statements as there
are no Level 3 investments held at the end of the reporting period.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2020

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Accounting and Regulatory Development (continued)

The Fund has not applied the following recent accounting proncuncements that has been issued but
Enﬂtjreteﬁ‘echveuptuthadateuflsmmufﬂmFund s financial statements. Among the remaining
recent accounting proncuncements, the following is expected to be relevant to the Fund’s financial

statements upon becoming effective.

In June 2016, the FASBE issued AST 2016-13 Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) that
require a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be
presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses 15 a valuation
account that 15 deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial assets to present the net carmying
value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. The income statement reflects the
measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial assets, as well as the expected increases
or decreases of expected credit losses that have taken place during the peniod. ASU 2016-13 1is
effective for anmual reporting periods, and interim periods within those years beginning after
December 13, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. This new AST is not expected to have an impact on
the Fund's financial position and financial performance.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts due from banks on demand. Cash equivalents are short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to msignificant changes m value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investments and other purposes. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at
cost, which approximates their market value. Balances which are denominated in foreign cumencies
are translated mto USY at the applicable rates of exchange at the end of the reporting period. As at
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, all cash and cash eqmvalents are held with cash
custodian, Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. No restnicted cash was held by
Fund as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Amonnts due from/to Broker

Amounts due from broker includes cash held by broker and amounts receivable for securities
transactions that have not been settled at the date of the statement of assets and liabilities. Amounts
due to broker is payable for securities purchased (in a regular way transactiom) that have been
contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date.

Invesiment Company

The Fund meets the definition of an investment company within Accounting Standards Codification
{"ASC") Topic 946, "Financial Services — Investment Companies ", issued by FASB, and applies the
accounting and reporting guidance in this Topic to its financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Fund's assets and liabilities which qualify as financial instroments under FASB

ASC 823, "Financial Instruments", approximates the camying amounts presented in the financial
statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Invesiment Valuation

The Fund's investment in listed securities are valued at their last traded prices on the valuation date
where the stock exchange in question closes on or before the valuation point on the relevant valuation
date, or, if such stock exchange closes after the valuation point on the relevant valuation date, by
reference to the last traded price as at close of business on the stock exchange immediately prior to
the relevant valuation date. If no such last traded price is available, the securities are valued at midway
between the latest available market dealing offered price and the latest available market dealing bid
price on the principal stock exchange for such mvestments. Market values are deternuined by using

quoted market prices.

The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessanly an indication of the nsk
associated with mvesting in those securities.

Dividend Income
Dividend meome 15 recorded on the ex-dividend date.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and hiabilities denommated in foreign curencies are tramnslated at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the date of the statement of assets and liabilities. Transactions in foreign curmencies are
translated at the rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Exchange gains or losses,
both realised and unrealised, are included in the statements of operations.

The Fund does not isolate that portion of gains and losses on investments which is due to changes in
foreign exchange rates from that which is due to changes i market prices of the investments. Such
fluctnations are included with the net realised and unrealised gains and losses from mvestments.

Invesiment Gains and Losses
Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Fealised gams and losses resulting
from the sale of investments are caleulated on an average cost basis, and are reflected in the statement
of operations. Unrealized appreciation and depreciation on investments are inclnded in the net asset
value at the statement of assets and liabilities and changes in unrealised appreciation or depreciation
on investments is nchided m the statement of operations.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements m conformuty with U.S. GAAP may require management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amomnts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3 Related Party Transactions
The Fund 1s managed by the Manager, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liabality.

The Manager is responsible, subject to the policies and supervision of the Directors of the Fund, for
the mvestment of the Fund's assets. The remmeration of the Manager 1z bome by the Feeder Fund.
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020
4. Fees
Directors' fee

The Directors are entitled to receive a fee from the Fund. They may be paid the reasonable travel and
out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by them in attending and retuming from meetings of the
Directors, any committee of the Directors, any general meeting or any other meeting held in
commection with the business of the Fund, which are not expected to exceed US$ 20,000 per anmm
pE[$DiIﬂElﬂr. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Directors fee were US$20,500 (2019:
US$38,333)

Registrar's and administration fees

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the "Admimstrator”) has been appointed on December 15, 2011
to perform the administrative services. The Admimistrator is entitled to receive admimistration and
custodian fees from the Fond calculated at the following annual rate of the net asset value of the Fund:

Pnor to 1 November 2019

For the first US$50 mallion of the net asset value 0.230%
For the next US$50 million of the net asset value 0225%
Above US$100 million of the net asset value 0.200%
Effective from 1 Movember 2019

For the first US§100 million of the net asset value 0.150%
For the next US%1 30 million of the net asset value 0.125%
Above US$250 million of the net asset value 0.100%

The fees will accrue on each dealing day (monthly) and be paid monthly in arrears. It is subject to a
minimum monthly fee of US$2,500.

Effective from 1 November 2019, the monthly mininmm fee has been revised to USS$6,500.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the administration fee was US$121,520 (2019: US$181,978).
Az at December 31, 2020, an administration fee of US$10,884 (2019: US§11,782) was payable to the

Transaction fee
The Admimstrator is entitled to receive transaction fees and charges on the basis of the number of

equities transactions, payable monthly in arrears.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, transaction fees were US$2,160 (2019 US$3,040). As at
December 31, 2020, a transaction fee of US$100 (2019: US$160) was payable to the Administrator.

Management and Performance fees
The Fund's Manager does not charge any management and performance at the Master Fund level.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2020

5. Share Capital

The share capital of the Fund is US$50,000 divided into 100 management shares of US$1.00 par
value each and 49,900,000 participating shares of US$0.001 par value each as at both December 31,
2020 and December 31, 2019,

The Directors shall determine the subscrnption price at the time of issue of the first 1ssue of
participating shares. Thereafier, the Directors may issue participating shares on any subscription date

provided that such additional participating shares are 1ssued at a subsenption price equal to not less
than the net asset value per participating share (such amount will be rounded up to the nearest cent

and the benefit of such rounding is retained as part of the Fund's assets) calculated on the relevant
subscription date or on any day as may be specified by the Directors. The subscription date 15 amy
dealng day in respect of applications received before the subscription dealing deadline in relation to
the relevant dealing day.

A shareholder may generally require the redemption of all or any of such shareholder’s participating
shares by serving a redemption notice on the Fund. The Fund shall redeem such participating shares
at the redemption price, being an amount equal to the net asset value per participating share
{such amount will be rounded down to the nearest cents) calenlated on the relevant redemption date
or on any day as may be specified by the Directors. The redemption date is any dealing day provided
that the redemption request mmst be received before the redemption dealing deadline in relation to the
relevant dealing day. The Directors may impose a gate the effect of which is to limit the redemptions
of participating shares of any class and/or senies as of any redemption date to such extent and in such
manner as they may, in their sole discretion, determmne. If the Directors determine to limit

ﬂmDmdmsmnydemlmneﬂmmaﬂnﬂmwhthmhgatedredempummqumtswﬂlhedmhmﬂl

on any subsequent redemption date.

The holder of management shares shall have the nght to receive notice of, attend at and vote as a

member at any general meeting of the Fund, and the right in a winding up to repayment of capital but
shall confer no other night to participate n the profits or assets of the Fund.

The holder of participating shares shall generally not have the right to receive notice of, attend at or
vote as a member at any general meeting of the Fund, but may vote at a separate meeting of holders
of participating shares, but shall have the nght m a wmding up to participate m the surphos assets of
the Fond.

All management shares were allotted and issued to the Manager at par value as resolved by the
Directors on December 14, 2011.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2020

5. Share Capital (continued)

The participating shares are issued and redeemed in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles
of Association and as established by the Directors.

2020 2019

Management shares at beginning and end of year 100 100

Participating shares outstanding at beginning of year 515,030 373,000

Participating shares issued 17,200 184,000
Participating shares redeemed {  14,600) ( 41950)

Net change 2,600 142,050

Participating shares cutstanding at end of year 517,650 315,050

During 2020, 17,200 units (2019: 184, 000 units) of participating shares were issned for US$2,607 864
(2019: US$31,540.960) and 14,600 (2019: 41,950) participating shares were redeemed for
US$2.293 406 (2019: US$7,146,515).

As at December 31, 2020, thers was no redemption payable to Cape China Fund (2019

US$3,122 460).

2020 2019

Uss Us$
Subscriptions duning the year 2,607,864 31,540,960
Proceeds from issuance of participating shares 2,607 864 31,540,960
Fedemptions payable, beginning of the year 3,122 460 -
Fedemptions during the year 2,203 406 7,146,515
Redemptions payable, end of the year - {3,122 460)
Payment for redemption of participating shares 5,415,866 4,024,055
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

b, Taxation

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there 15 no income, withholding, capital gains,
corporation, inheritance, or estate taxes of any kind.

Dividend revemue is subject to withhelding tax in certam jurisdictions and is the item subject to
taxation. The withholding tax for the year ended December 31, 2020 was US$239,735 (2019:
U5$256,327).

The Fund has received an undertaking from the Govemor-in-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that for
the period of fifty years from December 13, 2011 (date of establishment), no law which is hereafter
enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Fund.

The Fund is not subject to any Hong Kong tax on income or capital gams. As a result, no tax liability
or expense has been recorded in the financial statements.

The Fund recognises and measures its unrecogmised tax positions in accordance with ASC 740,
Income Taves. These prineiples preseribe the minimum recognition threshold a tax posifion mnst meat
n comnection with accounting for uncertainties in mmcome tax positions taken or expected The
applications of these principles did not impact the Fund's fimancial statements.

The Fund has analysed the positions for all open tax years (2011 to 2020), and the positions to be
taken for the tax year ended December 31, 2020 in 1ts major junsdictions, and have determined
whether or not there are uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recognition. Based on
its analysis, the Directors has determined that this policy did not have a material impact on the Fund's
financial statements. However, the Directors’ conclusions regarding this policy may be subject to
review and adjustment at a later date based on factors including, but not imited to, on-going analyses
of and changes to tax laws, regulations and interpretations thereof The Fund recognises imterest
accrued related to unrecogmised tax benefits in mterest expense and penalties in other expenses, 1f
assessed. No interest expense or penalties have been assessed for the year ended December 31, 2020
{2019: Nil).

T Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following
categories.

Level I- Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting
date. The type of mvestments mcluded in Level I mclude listed equities and listed
derivatives. As regquired by ASC 820 Fair Falue Measurements and Disclosures, the Fund
does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where the Fund
helds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level IT - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices m active markets, which are either directly or
mdirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value iz determined through the use
of models or other valuation methodologies.

Leve] IIT - Pricing inputs are uncbservable for the investment and mcludes situations where there is
little, if any, market activity for the investment The mputs into the determination of fair
value require significant management yjudgment or estimation. Investments that are
mecluded in this category generally include the Fund's mterest m dehisted equty securities

17

106/206



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

T. Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis (continued)

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall in to different levels of the fair value
hierarchy. In such cases, an mvestment's level within the far value hierarchy is based on the lowest
level of input that 1= sipmficant to the fair wvalue measurement The Fund's assessment of the
significance of a particular mput to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and
considers factors specific to the mvestment.

December 31, 2020 Cuoted Price In Significant Significant
USS  Active Markets Other Unobservable
Total for Identical Observable Inputs
Assets Inputs
(Level I} (Level Ty  (Level II)
Us$ uss Us$
Assets
Investments in securities
Common stocks 76,432 495 76,432,495 - -
76,432 495 76,432,495 - -

December 31, 2019

Assets
Investments in securities
Common stocks 89519255 89,519,255 - -

89.519.255 89,519,253 - -

Included in Lewvel 3 i3 an unlisted equity instrument that was previeusly delisted since 2013 with mil
fair value as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, there were no transfers between Level 1 or Level 2 and Level
3 (2019 no transfers between Level 1 or Level 2 and Level 3).

Az at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, all investments m securities are held with the
custodian, Hongkong and Shanghai Bank Corporation Limited.

The changes in investments levels are disclosed using the "beginming of period method ™ which
assumes the mvestment n secunties would be transferred into or out of the mvestment level at fair

value at the beginming of the reporting vear. There was no imvestment in securities that were
transferred in or out of Level 3 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

8. Dividends and Distributions

The Directors may declare dividends and distributions on participating shares and authorise payment
of the dividends or distributions. No dividend or distribution shall be paid except out of the realised
or unrealised profits of the Fund or out of the share premium account of the participating shares.

All dividends and distributions in respect of participating shares generally shall be declared and paid
according to the net asset value of the participating shares.

No dividend or distribution was paid or payable for the vear ended December 31, 2020 (2019: Nil).

9, Indemnifications

The Fund enters into contracts that comtain a variety of indemmifications. The Fund's maximum
exposure under these arrangements is unknewn. However, the Fund has not had prier claims or losses
pursuant to these contracts and expects the nsk of loss to be remote.

10. Financial instruments and associated risks

The Master Fund's investment activities expose it to various types of nsk, both on and off the
statement of financial condition, which are associated with fimancial mstruments and markets in which
it mvests. These financial instruments of the Master Fund all in listed equity securities expose the
Master Fund to varymg degrees of elements of market, credit, and foreign currency nsk.

Market risk

Market nisk 15 the nsk of potential adverse changes to the value of the financial mstruments and their
derivatives because of changes in market conditions.

In the normal course of business, the Master Fund trades lhisted equity secunities. Investments in listed
equity securities is subject to equity price nsk.

Cradit risk

Credit risk is measured as the loss the Master Fund would record if its counterparties failed to perform
pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Master Fund. Since the Master Fund mainly imvests
in listed equity securities, credit exposure with such transactions is minimal.

Foreign currency risk

The Master Fumd mwvests m secumties denominated in a cumrency other than the US dollar
Consequently, the Master Fund 15 exposad to nsks that the exchange rate of the US dallar relative to
the other currency may change in a manner, which has an adverse effect on the reported value of that
portion of the Master Fund's assets or liabilities, which are denominated m cumrencies other than the

US dollar. The Master Fund considers the exposure to foreigm currency nisk is numimal as its
invesiments are mainly denominated in the Hong Kong dollar, which is pegged to the US dellar.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2020

10. Financial Instruments and associated risks (continued)
Concentration risk

As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Master Fund was concentrated in 1ssuers and
industries listed on the condenzed schedule of investments.

Master-feeder structure
Due to the nature of the master-feeder stmucture, the Master Fund could be matenally affected by
contribution or withdrawal activity of its Feeder Fund.

11.  Financial Highlights

The following represents the per participating share information, ratio to average net assets and other
information for the year ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2012 have not been anmmalised:

2020 2019
Uss Us$
Per participating share operating performance
Met asset value, beginning of year 17348 157.12
{Loss)income from investment operations:
Net investment income 574 3.77
Net (loss)/'zain on investments ( £.23) 10.59
Total from mvestment operations ( 249 16.36
Met asset value, end of year 170.99 173.4%
Total investment (loss)retum [ 1.43%) 10.41%
Ratio to average net assets:
Expenses 0.56% 0.70%
Total expenses 0.36% 0.70%
Net investment income 3.64% 3.55%

An mdividnal investor's per participating share operatng performance. total return and ratios to
average net assets may vary from these amounts and ratios based on the timing of capital transactions.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2020

12. Subsequent Events

The financial statements have been prepared based upon conditions existing at December 31, 2020
and considering those events ocourming subsequent to that date, through to March 26, 2021, that
provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting penod. Subsequent to
December 31, 2020, 3,650 chares were redeemed for total capital redemptions of US$679,813. There
were no other significant events affecting the Fund during this peried, incloding the impacts of
COVID-19.
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CCMF LIMITED

CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS

December 31, 2020
Fair value % of
Description Uss net assets
Investment in securities
Commeon stock
Hong Kong
Airlines 6,182 551 6.99%
Appare]l Manufacturers 75,834 0.09%
Auto/Truck Parts & Equipment 3181303 3.59%
Building & Construction - Miscellaneous 2923550 330%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 4216360 4.76%
Capacitors 152,199 0.17%
Commercial Banks Non - US 20,112,789 22.70%
DistributionWholesale 3,100,413 3.50%
Electric - Generation 1,351,644 1.53%
Energy - Alternate Sources 5,376,435 6.07%
Finance - Investment Banker/Broker 5,321,130 6.01%
Finance - Other Services 354,781 0.40%
Food - Meat Products 330,689 0.37%
Food - Miscellaneous/Diverzified 318,457 0.36%
Food - Retail 883,036 1.00%
Gas - Distmbution 1,847 382 2.09%
Metal - Ahumimmm 471,766 0.53%
Mizcellaneous Manufacturing 1,376,123 1.56%
il - Field Services 1,644 679 1.86%
Power Conv/Power Supply Equipment 2682492 3.03%
Real Estate Operation/Development 8,042,850 9.09%
Fental Auto/Equipment 1,683 383 1.90%
Steel - Producers 684,072 0.77%
Steel - Specialty 1,163 421 1.32%
Textile - Products 83,007 0.09%
Warehousing & Harbor Transport Services 2,872,050 3.25%
Total Hong Kong
(Cost: US$ 95,160,982) 76,432 495 86.35%
Total investment in securities
(Cost: USS 95,160,982) 76,432,495 56.35%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

December 31, 2020

Sigmficant secunties holdings with more than 5% of net asset value of the Fund-

Cost Fair value %o of

Company _ US§ _ Quamity _ US$ net assefs
Airlines

China Southem Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 6,587,868 10,558,000 6,182,551 6.99%
Commercial Banks Non - U5

Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 7,835,493 14,700,000 5,024,507 5.68%

China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 6,842021 8,508,393 6,507,774 7.35%

China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrs 6,833,458 9,651,280 5,464 868 6.17%
Finance - Investment Bamker:Broker

CITIC Secunties Co Litd H Shrs 5,383,841 2,444,000 5,321,130 6.01%
Real Estate Operation/Development

Eed Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7,654,767 8,538,151 5,175,972 585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
5
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CCMF LIMITED

CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS

December 31, 2019
Fair value % of
Description Uss net assets
Investment in securities
Commeon stock
Hong Kong
Airlines 5408350 6.05%
Appare]l Manufacturers 362,378 0.41%
Auto/Truck Parts & Equipment 4086431 3.58%
Building & Construction - Miscellaneous 3,803,161 4.26%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 4,803,022 3.38%
Capacitors 118,134 0.13%
Commercial Banks Non - US 20,127,061 32.60%
DistributionWholesale 1,933,732 2.17%
Electric - Generation 201,277 1.01%
Energy - Alternate Sources 2,680,620 3.00%
Finance - Investment Banker/Broker 5,667,701 6.34%
Finance - Other Services 8,102,470 9.07%
Food - Meat Products 318419 0.36%
Food - Miscellaneous/Diverzified 321,264 0.36%
Food - Retail 820,633 0.92%
Gas - Distmbution 2,370,743 2.65%
Metal - Ahumimmm 128,504 0.14%
Mizcellaneous Manufacturing 1,463,193 1.64%
il - Field Services 2,450 464 2.74%
Power Conv/Power Supply Equipment 1.482370 1.66%
Real Estate Operation/Development 0,322 486 10.43%
Fental Auto/Equipment 822,145 0.92%
Steel - Producers 574,793 0.64%
Steel - Specialty 1,415,685 1.58%
Textile - Products 130,217 0.15%
Total Hong Kong
(Cost: US$ 97,204,330) 89,319,233 100.19%
Total investment in securities
(Cost: USS 97,204,532) 89,519,255 100.19%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

December 31, 2019

Sigmficant secunties holdings with more than 5% of net asset value of the Fund-

Cost Fair value %o of

Company _ US§ _ Quamity _ US$ net assefs
Airlines

China Southermn Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 5,201,830 7,858,000 5,408,350 6.05%
AutoyTruck Parts & Equipment

Weachai Power Co Ltd H Shrs 2,630,538 2,409,000 4986431 5.58%
Building & Construction Products —

Misesllaneons

China Lesso Group Holdings Ltd Shrs 2535416 3,574,000 4566313 511%
Commercial Bankz Non - U5

Bank of Chuna Ltd H Shrs 9,168,060 17,200,000 7,420,885 B3l%

China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs §,169.942 10,158,393 B.804,745 985

China Minsheng Bankmgz Corp Ltd H Shrs £,037.120 11,351,280 §.628 882 9.66%
Finance - Tvestment Banker/Broker

CITIC Secunties Co Litd H Shrs 5,383 841 2.444.000 5,667,701 6.34%
Finance - Other Services

Hong Kong Exchanges & Clearing Ltd (HESE) 6,046,053 246,292 B.102.470 20T
Real Estate Operation/Development

Eed Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7,721,433 7,829,556 6,605,269 7.3%%

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these fmancial statements.
1
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(2021 )
101,207,801 11,024,566
106,683 11,621
101,101,119 11,012,945
210,682
479.88 52,273
2021 30 UFJ

=108.93
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2021
28

100,000 11
100,000

( 14.03 108.93 2021
30 UFJ
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2021

2021
11,003.3

HSBC 2021 30
108.835
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2020 12 31
2020 2019
9 1,114,111 15,631 1,158,462 16,253
10 35,703,147 500,915 33,700,594 472,819
7,439,422 104,375 9,272,342 130,091
44,256,680 620,921 44,131,398 619,164
11 168,955 2,370 169,972 2,385
44,087,725 618,551 43,961,426 616,779
44,087,725 618,551 43,961,426 616,779
12 5,773,600 81,004 5,773,600 81,004
38,314,125 537,547 38,187,826 535,775
44,087,725 618,551 43,961,426 616,779

2021 27
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2020 12 31
2020 2019

3 6,938,001 97,340 6,372,987 89,413
3 374,662 5,257 138,112 1,938
4 2,804,412 39,346 (405,637) (5,691)
(6,084,591) (85,367) (5,483,543) (76,934)
(3,906,185) (54,804) (3,882,440) (54,471)
5 126,299 1,772 (3,260,521) (45,745)

7
126,299 1,772 (3.260,521) (45,745)
126,299 1,772 (3,260,521) (45,745)
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2020 12 31
2019 5,773,600 81,004 41,448,347 581,520 47,221,947 662,524
(3,260,521)  (45,745)  (3,260,521) (45,745)
2019 12 31 5,773,600 81,004 38,187,826 535,775 43,961,426 616,779
126,299 1,772 126,299 1,772
2020 12 31 5,773,600 81,004 38,314,125 537,547 44,087,725 618,551
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2020 12 31
2020 2019
126,299 1,772 (3,260,521) (45,745)
(448,143) (6,287) (376,231) (5,279)
(2,356,269) (33,058) 781,868 10,970
(20,662) (290) (138,112) (1,938)
(2,698,775) (37,864) (2,992,996) (41,992)
(1,554,410) (21,808) 1,135,028 15,924
578 8 (406) (6)
43,773 614 (292,784) (4,108)
(1,017) (14) 23,466 329
(52,918) (742)
(4,209,851) (59,064) (2,180,610) (30,594)
20,662 290 138,112 1,938
20,662 290 138,112 1,938
(4,189,189) (58,774) (2,042,498) (28,656)
9,272,342 130,091 12,096,708 169,717
2,356,269 33,058 (781,868) (10,970)
7,439,422 104,375 9,272,342 130,091
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6,518,132 91,449 6,152,814 86,324

921,290 12,926 3,119,528 43,767

7,439,422 104,375 9,272,342 130,091
HKAS 7 44D
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2.3. HKFRS
2020 1 HKICPA
HKFRSs
HKFRSs
HKFRS
HKAS HKAS
HKFRSs HKAS
HKICPA
2020 12 31
2.4.
a
b
2.5.
FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTOCI
FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTPL

FVTPL
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2019

7,456
6,365,531

6,938,001

6,372,987

20,662
354,000

138,112

374,662

138,112

7,312,663

6,511,099
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« )
2020 2019
( ) 2,356,269 781,868
448,143 376,231
2,804,412 405,637
« )
2020 2019
« )
1,440,000 1,440,000
4,141,482 4,011,509
62,948 59,445
123,000 140,400
383(1) ( )
2020 2019
1,844,161 1,376,589
36,000 36,000
1,880,161 1,412,589
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C )
2020 2019
126,299 3,260,521
16.5 20,839 (537,986)
8,994 79,169
(122,097) (22,788)
92,264 481,605
2020 2019
1,557 1,946
2,955,584 2,862,931
2,957,141 2,864,877
2020 2019
578
566,023 611,432
548,088 546,452
1,114,111 1,158,462
380,000 2019 380,000
30 2019 30
30

15 b
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2020 2019
566,023 611,432
10.
2020 2019
35,703,147 33,700,594
2020 12 31 30,000,000 2019
30,000,000 2021 FVTPL
2020 12 31
11.
2020 2019
45,955 46,972
123,000 123,000
168,955 169,972
30
12.
2020 2019
100,002
2019 100,002 5,773,600 5,773,600
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2020

2019
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FRR
2020 2019
6,311,005 6,365,531
7,456
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2,280,000 2,280,000
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d LPIL
190,000
2019 190,000 LPIL
15.
@
Q)
(USD) @JPY) (RMB)
(HKD)  USD UsD UsD
HKD JPY RMB
2020 12 31 RMB  HKD 2019 RMB RMB
«C )
2,539,000 2019 804,000
2019 RMB
)
2020 12 31 50
2,000 (2019 10,000 )
50
2019
()
77 2019 79

©
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2020
168,955 168,955 168,955
2019
169,972 169,972 169,972
(D)
HKFRS 13
2020 12 31
35,703,147 35,703,147
2019 12 31

33,700,594 33,700,594
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREETERRAE

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note HKS HKS
Current assets
Account and other receivables 9 1,114,111 1,158,462
Structured deposits 10 35,703,147 33,700,594
Cash and bank balances 7,439,422 9,272,342
44,256,680 44,131,398
Current liabilities
Account and other payables 11 168,955 169,972
Met current assets 44,087,725 43,961,426
MNet assets 44,087,725 43,961,426
Financed by:
Share capital 12 5,773,600 5,773,600
Reserves 38,314,125 38,187,826
Shareholders' funds 44,087,725 43,961,426
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 12
and signed on its behalf by:
L] 'T.___
S T -
_.(_ Y A — . -...
s ===
LO Pui Leung KAM Pak Wah Franklin B
Director Director
S%-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the vear ended 31 December 2020

Revenue

Other mcome

Other net gamn/(loss)
Staff costs

Other operating expenses
Profit/(loss) before tax

Taxation

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Note

141/206
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2020 2019

HEKS HKS
6.932.001 6,372,987
374,662 138112
2804412 (405,637)
(6,084.501) (5,483 .543)
(3,906,183) (3,882 4400
126,299 (3,260,521)
126,299 (3,260,521)
126,299 (3,260,521)




Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEEARAT

Statement of Changes in Equnity
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Total equity as at 1 January 2019
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Total equity as at 31 December 2019
Total comprehensive meome for the year
Total equity as at 31 December 2020
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Share

capital Reserves Total
HEKS HES HES
5,773,600 41,448 347 47221947
- (3.260,521) (3,260,521)
5,773,600 38,187,826 43,961,426
- 126,209 126,299
5,773,600 38314125 44,087,725
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEEARAT

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
HKS HES$
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/{loss) before tax 126,299 (3,260,321)
Admstments for:
Net fair value gain on structured deposits (448.143) (376,231)
Foreign exchange (gam)/loss (2,356,269 TE1,868
Interest income (20,662) (138,112}
(2,698.773) (2,992 996)
(Increase)/decrease i structored deposits (1,554, 4100 1,135,028
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from a fellow subsidiary 578 (406)
Decrease/(Increase) in account and other receivables 43,773 (202, 784)
(Decrease)/increase in account and other payables (1.017 23,466
Decrease in amount due to a fellow subsidiary - (52918)
Net cash used in operating activities (4,200.851) (21806100
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 20,662 138,112
Net cash from investing activities 20,662 138,112
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,189 189 (2,042 498)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 9272342 12,096,708
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 2,356,269 (781,868)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7430422 9272342
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Time deposits with maturity of three meonths or less 6,518,132 6,152 814
Cash and bank balances 921,290 3,119 528
7430422 0272342

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The Company did not have liabilities arising from financing activities during the year and durning the preceding
year. Accordingly, the reconcihiation of liabilities from financial activities as required by paragraph 44D of
HEAS 7 is not necessary.

_10-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

1. General information
Cape Asset Management Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. Its
registered office 1s located at Umt 3303, 33/F_, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong. The
Company is a licensed corporation registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The principal
activities of the Company are the provision of mvestment advisory and financial services.

The ultimate holding company is The Seven International Heldings (L) Limited, a private compamy
incerporated in Labuan, Malaysia.

2. Significant accounting policies

2.1. Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HEFR.Ss"), which collective term includes all applicable indrndual HEFRSs, Hong
EKong Accounting Standards ("HEASs") and Interpretations issned by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HEICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company is set out below.

The HEICPA has issued certain new and revised HEFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the cumrent accounting period of the Company. Information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Company for the corrent and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements is provided m
note 2.3,

2.2. Basis of preparation of financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements iz the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial assets which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HEFESs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, mcome and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and variouns other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the jdgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an cngoing basis. Fewisions to accounting
estimates are recogmsed in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or m the period of the revision and foture periods if the revision affects both current and fisture
penods.
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.2. Basis of preparation of financial statements (cont"d)
Judgements made by management in the application of HEKFE.Ss that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 16.

2.3. The impact of new/revised HEFRSs
In the current year, the Company has applied, for the first time, the following new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretation (collectively referred to as the "new and revised HEFESs™) issued by
HEICPA, which are effective for the Company's financial year beginning from 1 Jamuary 2020, A summary
of the new and revised HEFESs applied by the Company is set out as follows:

Amendments to HEFRS 3 Defimtion of a Business
Amendments to HEAS 1 and HEAS 8 Defimtion of Materials

The amendments to HEFES: and HEKAS in this year do not have material impact on the Companmy's
financial performance and position for the curmrent and prior years and on the disclosures set out in the
financial statements.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKTCPA has 1ssued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2020 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements.

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new
standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. Howevwer, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect umtil the directors of the Compamy
completed a detailed review.

2.4. Foreign currencies translations
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included m the financial statements are measured using the cumrency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). This financial statements are
presented in Hong Eong Dollars ("HE$"™), which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated mto the functional corrency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactioms. Foreipn exchange gains and losses resulting from the
seftlement of such transactions and from the translation at vear-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign curmencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5. Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instument of ancther entity. A financial asset or a financial liability will be recognised when, and
only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instroment At mitial
recognition, financial instruments are accounted for at trade date basis and measured at fair value plus or
minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liabality not at financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss ("FWVTPL"), transaction costs thereon. After imitial recogmition, financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value or at amortized cost based on their respective business models,
contractual cash flows characteristics and classifications.

Financial assets af FFTPL

Financial assets other than those measured at amortised cost or at fair valoe through other comprehensive
mcome ("FVTOCT") are classified as financial assets at FVTFL. Financial assets that are classified as held
for trading or are desigmated at FVTPL at imitial recognition for the purposes of aveiding accounting
mismatch are classified as financial assets at FVTPL too. Denvatives are also categonsed as held for trading
unless they are designated as hedges. After initial recogmition, financial assets at FWTPL are measured at
fair value prior to the deduction of fransaction costs. Gams or losses ansing from changes m fair value or
otherwise are recognised m profit or loss. Such gams or losses are presented separately from nterest and
diridends

Financial assets at amortised cost

Non-derivative debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective 13 to hold assets for
collection of contractual cash flows and have specified settlement dates with fixed or determinable
payments of principal and interest thereon are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. After imitial
recognition, financial assets at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using effective interest
method, less credit loss allowances. Interest income together with gains or losses resulting from
derecognition are recognised i profit or loss.

At each reporting date, expected credit losses are recognised for individual or collective financial assets at
amortised cost in profit or loss. The amounts of expected credit losses are measured at the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows and the expected finture cash flows.

Financial linbilities af amortisied cost

Non-denvative finaneial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not guoted in an active
market are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost. After initial recognition, financial liabilities at
amortised cost are measured at amortised cost nsing the effective interest method. All financial hiabilities at
amortised cost are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has a pre-defined repayment schedule
or an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
peried. Interest expenses are recognised in profit or loss. When the borrowing agreement contains clause
that gives the lender unconditional right to demand repayment at any time disregarding the pre-defined
repayment schedule, the financial hiabilities at amortised cost 15 presented as a current liability in the
statement of financial pesition nrespective of the probability that the lender will invoke the clanse without

rAanes

_13-

146/206



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5. Financial instruments (cont"d)

Reclassification of financial assets

Fiancial assets, but not financial liabilities, are re-classifiable when the business model applicable to a
financial asset or a class of financial assets has changed For the finamcial assets reclassified out of
amortised cost t category, their carrying amount are restated at their respective fair value at the
reclassification date; any differences are recogmsed in profit or loss (for those reclassified imto FVTPL
measurement category) or other comprehensive income (for those reclassified into FVTOCT measurement
category). For the finanecial assets reclassified out of FVIPL measurement categery imto FVTOCI
measurement category of vice versa, they are continued to be measured at fair value; cumulative gain or loss
previously recogmised in other comprehensive imcome, if any, is reclassified to profit or loss as
reclassification adjustment. For the financial assets reclassified out of FVTPL measurement category into
amortised cost measurement category, their fair value at the reclassification date becomes their new gross
carrying amount. For financial assets reclassified from FVTOCT measurement category mto amortised cost
measurement category, their carrying amount will be adjusted as if they had always been measured at
amortised cost; the adjusted amount will be recogmised in cummlative gam or less of the financial assets
previously recogmised in other comprehensive income. After reclassification, the reclassified financial assets
will be measured in accordance with the accounting policies of the new categories.

Derecognition of financial assets

When the contractual rights to the cash flows from financial assets expire or substantially all the nisks and
rewards of ownership of financial assets are transferred, the financial assets will be derecognised. The rights
and cbligations created or retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities. However,
if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are retained, the
financial assets will not be derecognised. In this situation, the ransferred financial assets will be recognized
in their entirety and the comsiderations received, if any, will be recogmsed as financial liabihties. In
subsequent periods, income on the fransferred finamelal assets and expense incumed on the recogmsed
financial hiabilities will be recogmsed in profit or loss separately. In the case substantially all the nsks and
rewards of ownership of transferred finanecial assets are neither transferred nor retained, the transferred
financial assets will be recognised to the extent of the Company's confimuouns mvelvemnent if the Companmy
retains control over the financial assets; otherwise, the financial assets will be derecognised and the rights
and cbligations created or retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities. The
difference of the carmying amount of the transferred assets which are qualified for derecognition and the sum
of consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised m
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

When the obligation of financial abilities specified in the contract 15 discharged or cancelled or expires, the
financial hiabilities are regarded as extingmshed and are removed from the statement of financial position.
An exchange of liabilities or substantial modification of the terms of existing finanecial liabilities are also
accounted for as an extingumshment of the original financial liabilities. Gain or loss on derecognition of
financial liabilities is recognised in profit or loss.
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEEARAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.6. Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax curmently payable and deferred tax.

The tax curently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of
mcome and expense that are taxable or deductible mn other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Company's liability for current tax 15 caleulated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of reporting peniod.

Deferred tax 15 recogmised on temporary differences between the camyimg amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the comesponding tax bases used m the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recogmised if the temporary difference anses from the initial recognition
{other than in a busimess combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabalifies are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recoverad.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of reporting peniod.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and habilities.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the average rates that are expected to apply to the taxable profit or tax loss of the periods m
which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

2,7. Employee benefits
Salaries, anmual bonuses and other staff costs are accrued m the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Company. Where payment or setflement is deferred and the effect would be
matenial, provisions are made for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the end of reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2,7. Employee benefits (cont'd)
The Company joined a Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF™) scheme for its employees in Hong Eong. The
assets of the MPF scheme are held separately from those of the Company in independently administered
funds. Under the rules of the MPF scheme the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the mles. Contnbutions to the defined contribution pension
scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

2.5. Government grants
Government grants are recognised as income over periods necessary to match them with the related costs
they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis when there is reasonable assurance that the Compamy
will comply with the conditions attaching of them and the grants will be received. A government grant that
becomes recervable as compensation for expenses or losses already imcurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Company, with no future related costs, 1s recogmsed as income of the
period in which it becomes receivable. Government grants related to assets are presented in the statement of
financial position by setting up the grant as deferred income / a deduction in armiving at the camrying amount
of the asset. Government grants received before the revenue recognition criteria are recognised as a liability.

2.9. Revenue recognition

Pevenue from contracts with customers is recognised by reference to each distinet performance obligation
in the contract with the customer. Revenue from contracts with customers 15 measured at the transaction
price, being the amount of consideration which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for
transferming the promised goods or services to the customer, net of taxes. The transaction price is allocated
to each performance obligation of each distinct good or service promised m the contract. The basis of
allocation is that allowed by HEFRS 15. Depending on the substance of the contract, revemue is recogmsed
when the performance obligation 13 satisfied, which may be at a point in time or over time.

Fund manager fee mcome is charged at a fixed percentage per month of the net asset value of the managed
accounts under management of the Company. The Company is also entitled to a performance fee when there
15 a positive performance for the relevant performance period and it is recogmsed at the end of the relevant
performance period, when 1t 1s highly probable that a sigmificant reversal in the amount of cunmlative
revenue recogmised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the vanable consideration i3
subsequently resolved.

Income from financial services 1s recognised over time as services rendered.
Imterest meome is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate

that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter pertod, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.10. Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Company if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Compamy;

() has sipmificant mfluence over the Company; or

(i) iz a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company's parent.
(b) An entity is related to the Company if any of the followmg conditions applhes:

(1) the enfity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity 13 a member).

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Compamy or
an entity related to the Compamy.

(vi) the entity 15 controlled or jointly controlled by a person 1dentified in (a).

(vi) a person idenfified in (a)(1) has sigmficant influence over the entity or 1z a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those fammly members who may be expected to influence, or be
inflnenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

2.11. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short term, highly liguid mvestment that are readily convertible inte known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes i value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Company's cash management are alse included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the statement of cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

212, Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, including those arising from the contractual obligation specified m
the service concession arrangement to maintain or restore the infrastructure before it 13 handed over to the
grantor, 15 the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
reporting period, taking mto account the nsks and uncertainties swrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carmying amount 13
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to seftle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recogmsed as an asset if it is virtually certain that remmbursement will be
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.13. Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at tramsaction price and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less lifetime expected credit losses.

2.14. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are measured at initial recognition at the fair value (including transaction costs)
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.15. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occwrrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Company. It can alse be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
becanse it 15 not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow 1s
probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset 15 a possible asset that amses from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occwrrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Company. When inflow 15 virually certain, an asset is recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.16. Leases

Except for the recognition exemption, if applicable, right-of-use assets and lease Liabilities are recognized
for all contracts that are, or contain, leases of identified assets at the commencement date of leases. Right-
of-use assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and mmpairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities. Tease liabilities are
initially measured at the present value of unpaid lease payments using intetest rate implicit to the lease or, if
undeterminable, lesses’s mcremental bormmowing rates and subsequently adjusted with interest on and the
seftlement of the lease liabilities, and the re-measurement arising from any reassessment of the lease
liabilities or lease modifications.

The Company has elected to recognise lease payments for all leases with a term of twelve months or less; or
the underlying assets of which are of low value, as expenses on a straight-line method.

Depraciation i3 caleulated nsing the straight-line method to write off the depreciable amount of each right-
of-use asset to profit or loss unless it is ncluded in the carrying amount of another asset. If the ownership of
the identified asset will be transferred to the Company by the end of the lease term or the Company will
exercise a purchase option, depreciation shall be allocated over the estimated useful life of the right-ofuse
assets; otherwise, depreciation shall be allocated over the shorter of lease term or the estimated useful life of
the right-of-use assets.

3. Revenne and other income

The principal activities of the Company are the provizion of mvestment advisory and financial services.
Pevenue and other income recognised during the year are as follows:

2020 019
HES HEKS
Eevenue

Investment advizory - TA56
Fund manager fee 6,311,005 6,363,531
Tmitial subscription income 626,996 -
6.938.001 6,372,087

Other income
Interest income 20,662 138112
Government subsidies 354,000 -
374,662 138112
7.312.663 6,511,000
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4. Other net gain/(loss)

2020 2019
HES HES
Wet exchange gam/{loss) 2,336,269 (781.868)
WNet fair value gain on stctured deposits 448,143 376,231
2,804 412 (403,637)
5. Profit/(loss) before tax
2020 2019
HEKS HEKS
Profiti(loss) before tax is stated after charging:
Lease expenses
- Short-term leazes 1,440,000 1,440,000
Staff costs (excluding directors’ rermmeration {note ))
- Salanes, allowances and benefits m kind 4141482 4,011,500
- Retrement benefit scheme contnbutions 62,948 50 445
Aunditor's remmmeration 123,000 140 400

6. Directors' remuneration

Details of directors' remmmeration disclosed pursuant te sectiom 383(1) of the Hong Eong Companies
Ordimance and Part 2 of the Compamies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation

are as follows:

2020 019

HES HES

Fees - -
Other emoluments

- Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,844 161 1,376,589

- Retirement benefit scheme contributions 36,000 36,000

1,880,161 1,412 589
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

7. Taxzation

Provision for Hong Keng Profits Tax has not been made as the Company sustained a taxation loss during
the year (2019: Mil).

No provision for deferred tax has been made. Details of the unrecognised deferred tax are set out in note 3
to the financial statements.

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates

2020 019

HEKS HES
Profit/(loss) before tax 126,299 (3.260,521)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) 20,839 (537.986)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3994 To.169
Tax effect of non-taxable income (122.007) (22,788)
Effect on deferred tax not recognised 92 264 481,603

Tax expenses - -

8. Deferred tax assets unrecognised

No deferred tax assets has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Deferred tax
assets which have not been recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

2020 2019

HKS HKS

Deductible temporary differences 1,557 1946
Tax loss 2,953,584 2862931
2957141 2864877

9. Account and other receivables

2020 2019

HEKS HEKS

Due from a fellow subsidiary - 378
Accounts recervable 566,023 611,432
Other debtors, prepayments and deposits paid 548,088 546,452
1,114,111 1,158,462

M-
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9.  Account and other receivables (cont'd)

Rental deposits to a fellow subsidiary amounting to HE$320,000 (2019: HE$380,000) are included in other
debtors, prepayments and deposits paid.

The Company allows a credit peried of 30 (2019: 30) days in respect of the accounts receivable ansing from
the business of provision of mvestment advisory and financial services.

The amount due from a fellow subsidiary was unsecured, interest-free and recoverable on demand and m
general it is expected to be recovered within 30 days.

The Company's credit policy is set out in note 15(b).

The aging analysis of accounts receivable ansing from mvestment advisory and financial services at the end
of reporting period, based on the date of invoice was as follows:

2020 2019
HKS HKS
Neither past due nor impaired 366,023 611432

Beceivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of defanlt.

10. Structured deposits

2020 2019
HKS HES
Structured deposits, at fair value 35,703,147 33,700,594

The stroctured deposits are placed with a bank in Hong Kong, the retums of which are determined by
reference to the change in certain exchange rates gquoted in the market The principal amount of the
stractured deposits 1s EMB30,000,000 (2019: RME30,000,000) as at 31 December 2020 which was with
maturity date in February 2021. The structured deposits are designated as financial assets at FVIPL on
initial recognition. At 31 December 2020, the structured deposits were stated at fair values.
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11. Account and other payables

2020 2019
HKS HEKS
Accounts payable 45,955 46,972
Accmals 123,000 123,000
168,955 169972
All the accounts payable are expected to be settled within 30 days.
12. Share capital
2020 2019
HEKS HEKS
Issued and folly paid
Ordinary share
100,002 (2019: 100,002) shares at the beginning of the year
and at the end of the year 3,773,600 3,773,600

The holders of ordinary shares are enfitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets.

13. Capital management

The primary objectives of the Company's capital management are to safeguard the Company's ability to
contime as 3 going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise the shareholders’ value.

The Company manages its capital structore and makes adjustments to it i light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amounts of dividend
paid to the shareholders, returm on capital to the shareholders or issue of new shares or repurchase of
existing shares as well as issue of new debts or redemption of existing debis.

S

156/206



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

13. Capital management {cont'd)

The Company are licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission ("SFC") and obliged to meet the
regulatory liquid capital requirements under the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRER")
at all times. The Company ensures 1t mamtains a liquid capital level adequate to support the level of
activities with sufficient buffer to accommodate for increases im ligmdity reqmrements ansng from
potential increases in the level of business activities. During the financial year, the Company has complied
with the liguid capital requirements under the FER at all times.

14. Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Company
entered into the following material related party transactions:

2020 2019

HES HES
Fund management fee from a related fimd (note (a)) 6,311,005 6,365,531
Tnvestment advisory fee from a fellow subsidiary (note (b)) - T456
Adwimistrative agency fee to a fellow subsidiary (note (c)) - 70342
Rental expense to a fellow subsidiary (note (d)) 2,280,000 2,280,000
Eental depozits to a fellow subzidiary (note (d)) 320,000 380,000

Note
(a) The management fee was received from a fund managed by the Company. The management fee 13
caleulated based on net asset value of the find.

(b) The Company entered into an investment advisory agreement with a fellow subsidiary, the Seven Asset
Management (Asia) Linited ("SAMAL"). Pursuant to the agreement, the Company was appointed to
provide mvestment adviscry service to funds managed by SAMAIL. The Company is entitled to
imvestment advisory fee from SAMAL. The agreement was terminated m January 2020.

(c) The Company entered into an admimistrative agency agreement with a fellow subsidiary, The Seven
Macao Commercial Offshore Limited ("Seven Macac™). Pursnant to the agreement, Seven Macao was
appointed as the admmistrative agent of the Cape China Fund and is not entitled to a service fee (2019:
0.15%) per annum of the net asset value of the funds. The agreement was termimated in February 2019

{d) The Company entered into rental agreements with a fellow subsidiary, Lucky Plus Investment Linuted
("LPIL"). Pursuant to the agreements. the Company leased office premises and quarters owned by LPIL
at market rentals totaling HEK$190,000 (2019: HE$190,000) per month.
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

15. Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a vanety of financial risks: market risk {incloding foreign currency
nizk and cash flow and fair value interest rate nisk), credit nisk, and liquidity risk. These nsks are mitigated
by the Company's financial management policies and practices desenibed below:

{a) Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency nisk through certain revemes and expenses that are
settled in United States dollar (USD), Japanese Yen (JPY) and Fenmmbi (RMB). As USD 1s
pegeed to Hong Kong dollar (HED), the Company does not expect any significant movements in
the USDVHED exchange rate. The Company is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk ansing
from future transactions that are depominated in JPY and BMB. The management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging sigmificant foreign currency exposure
should the need anze.

The Company has no significant exposure to foreign cumency nisk as substantially of all of the
Company transactions that are denominated in JEY.

As at 31 December 2020, if RMB has strengthenedweakened by 6% (2019: 2%) against HED
with all other wariables held comstant, loss for the year would have been approximately
HES2.539,000 (2019: HE$204,000) higherlower, mainly as a result of foreign ewchange
gam/(loss) on translation of foreign curencies of assets and liabilities. The 6% (2019: 2%)
represents management's assessment of the likely maximum change in FMB exchange rate over
the period until the end of next reporting period.

(n) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest
bearing assets. The Company's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available for

its deposits.

As at 31 December 2020, the profit after tax of the Company would have been
decreased/mcreased by approximately HES2,000 (2019: HE$10,000) if the market interest rate
had been mereased/decreased by 50 basizs points with all other vanables held constant. The 30
basis points ncrease/decTease represents management's assessment of the likely maximum change
in interest rates over the period until the end of next reporting period. The analysis does not take
into account exposure to fair value interest rate risk amsing from fixed rate instruments as the
Company does not hold any fixed rate mstroments which are measured at fair value n the
financial statements. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019.

{(b) Credit nsk
The Compamny's principal financial assets is bank deposits and cash, structured deposits, account and
other receivables.

_25.
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

15. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(b) Credit nisk (cont'd)
The credit risks on bank deposits and structured deposits placed in banks are limited becanse the banks
are authemised financial institutions with high credit rating.

Bental deposits are placed with a landlord and are due to refimd upon the expiry of the tenancy
agreements and handover the leased premises. The Company has not experience significant default by
the landlord.

The Company's exposure to credit risk is mfluenced mamly by the individunal characteristics of each
customer. At the end of reporting peried, the Company has a concentration of credit risk as 77% (2019:
79%) of total account and other receivables which was due from fimds managed by the Company and a

Other than concentration of credit nisk on amomunt due from fimds managed by the Company, liqud
funds and strectured deposits which are deposited with banks with high credit rating, the Company does
not have any other sigmificant concentration of credit nisk.

(c) Liguidity risk
The Company regularly monitors current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient cash to meet its Liquidity requirements in the short and longer term_

The maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities as at the end of reporting peniod, based on the
contracted undiscounted payment, was as follows:

Total
coniractual Morethanl  More than 2
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year  year but less  years but less
amounnt cash flow orondemand  tham 2 years than 5 years

HES HES HES HES HES
2020
Account and
other payables 168,953 168935 168,955 - -
2019
Account and
other payablez 169972 169,972 165,972 - -

_26-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

15. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(d) Fair value of finamcial nstruments
Financial instruments measured at fair value
HEFRS 13, Fair value measurement categorises fair value measurements into a three-level hierarchy.
The level mto which fair value is classified is determuined with reference to the observability and

significance of the mputs used m the valuation techmique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices m
active markets for identical assets or hiabilities at the measurement date.

- Lewvel 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs 1.e. observable imputs which fal to
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured usmg significant unobservable inputs.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company held the following financial assets measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HES HKS} HEKS HES
Financial assets
at fair value
throngh profit or loss
- Structured deposits - 33,703,147 - 35,703,147

Ag at 31 December 2019, the Company held the following financial assets measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HES HE$ HEKS HKS
Financial assets
at fair value
throngh profit or loss
- Structured deposits - 33,700,594 - 33,700,594

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no transfers of instruments between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial
liabilities recogmsed in the financial statements approximate to their far values.

_27-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

16. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are contimally evaluated and are based on historical expenience and other
factors, inchoding expectations of finture events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerming the fiture. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
sigmificant nsk of cansing a matenial adjustment to the camrying amounts of assets and hiabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated of impamrment of receivables
The Company tests ammually whether account and other receivables have suffered any impaimment m
accordance with the accounting pelicy stated in notes to the financial statements and make provisions
for impairment accordingly.

(b) Fair value estimates
Fair valoe estimates are made at a specific point mn time and based on relevant market information and
information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and imvolve
uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be determined with precision.
Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

17. Events after the end of reporting period

At the end of reporting period, the Company was unable to reliably estimate the financial impact of the
recent outbreak of COVID-19. There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company after

the reporting period.

_0% .
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Trustee
Cape China Fund

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Cape China Fund (the “Trust"), which comprise the
statement of assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related statements of operations, changesin
net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statementsin conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statementsthat are free of material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility isto express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our auditsin
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considersinternal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Cape China Fund at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations, changes in its net assets and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Ernst & Young, Ltd.

March 26, 2021
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of
Cape Asset Management Limited

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Cape Asset Management Limited ("the Company™) set out on pages 7 to 28,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to

the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2020, and of itsfinancial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") and with reference to Practice
Note 820 (Revised), The Audit of Licensed Corporations and Associated Entities of Intermediaries issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsihilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the

directors report, but does not include the financia statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

203/206



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appearsto be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is amaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in accordance
with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control asthe
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong

Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance isahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
aways detect amaterial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financia statements. In addition, we are required to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
(Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit)

Rules.

204/206



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to

cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin internal control that we identify during

our audit.

Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and
Audit) Rules.
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FTW & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 April 2021

HO Cheung Kong

Practising Certificate Number: P5214
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